


FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

SEPTEMBER 5, 2025  

September 5, 2025 Final Official Minutes Page 1 of 18 
Charter Review Task Force 

The Miami-Dade Charter Review Task Force (CRTF/Task Force) convened its fourth meeting at 
the Stephen P Clark Building, 2nd floor Commission Chamber: 111 NW 1st St, Miami, FL 
33128, on September 5th, 2025 at 1:19 p.m.  

I. Roll Call 

In attendance were the following Task Force members: 
- City of Miami Lakes Mayor Joshua Dieguez; 
- Ms. Stephanie V. Daniels; 
- Mr. Eric Eikenberg; 
- Mr. Robert H. Fernandez;  
- City of Aventura Mayor Steven D. Losner;  
- Former Miami-Dade County Commissioner Dennis Moss; 
- Ms. Rebecca Wakefield;  
- Vice Chairman Michael Redondo (State Representative for House District 118); 
and - Chairman Dennis Kerbel.  

The following Task Force members attended via Zoom: 
- Senator Alexis Calatayud; and  
- Former City of North Miami Mayor Andre D. Pierre. 

Ms. Iris Escarra arrived at 1:36p.m. 

In addition to the Task Force members, the following staff members were present: 

- Assistant County Attorney (ACA) Michael Valdes;  
- Ms. Demetria Henderson, Director of Legislative Affairs, Office of the Mayor;  
- Ms. Tivia Rouland Deputy Director of Legislative Affairs, Office of the Mayor;  
- Mr. Jorge Damian de la Paz, Director of Policy, Office of the Mayor; 
- Ms. Samantha Jacob, Deputy Director of Policy, Office of the Mayor; 
- Dr. Carladenise Edwards, Chief Administrative Officer, Office of the Mayor; 
- Mr. Felix Jimenez, Inspector General, Office of Inspector General (OIG) 
- Ms. Marie Perikles, General Counsel, OIG, 
- Mr. Yinka Majekodunmi, Commission Auditor, Miami-Dade Office of Commission 

Auditor (OIC) 
- Ms. Ofelia Tamayo, Director, Internal Compliance Department (ICD); 
- Mr. Oren Rosenthal, Attorney, Supervisor of Elections (SOE);  
- Mr. Luis Montaldo, General Counsel, Clerk of the Court and Comptroller (COCC); and 
- Mr. Chester Rodriguez, Deputy Clerk, Clerk of the Board (COB).  



 
FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 

CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE  
SEPTEMBER 5, 2025  

 

September 5, 2025 Final Official Minutes Page 2 of 18  
 Charter Review Task Force  
 

II. Pledge of Allegiance 

Commissioner Dennis Moss led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

 

III. Reasonable Opportunity for the Public to be Heard 

Chairman Dennis Kerbel opened the reasonable opportunity to be heard, and seeing no one come 
forward to speak, the reasonable opportunity to be heard was closed.  

 

IV. Carry Over Discussion – Amendments relating to Constitutional Officers 

Chairman Kerbel stated that the carryover items from the last meeting concerned constitutional 
officers, and since representatives from the administration were present, the discussion would 
address what to do with the financial administration section of the charter and how to separate 
audit functions that remained with the COCC from other types of investigations and inspections 
performed by various offices. 

 A. Office of Inspector General 

Mr. Felix Jimenez provided an overview of the Office of the Inspector General (OIG). He noted 
the OIG was created on December 16, 1997, by the Board of County Commissioners (Board) to 
serve as a watchdog over County practices with a mission to detect, investigate, and prevent 
waste, fraud, mismanagement, misconduct, and abuse of power through independent oversight of 
county affairs. Mr. Jimenez reported in November 2020, voters supported a charter amendment 
to establish an independent OIG in the charter. He advised that the office operated autonomously 
and independently to ensure no interference or influence from external sources.  

Mr. Jimenez pointed out that Section 2-1076 of the County Code, based on delegation of powers 
by the Board, granted the OIG authority to conduct investigations of County affairs, audit and 
inspect County programs, accounts, records, contracts and transactions, conduct reviews and 
require reports from County officials and employees. He stated that there were different practices 
with different oversight entities that were not duplicative efforts but rather oversight that made 
government function better. 

Ms. Marie Perikles explained that the OIG's audit authority did not overlap or duplicate the 
duties of the COCC/Clerk. She acknowledged that the Clerk was, under provisions of the State 
constitution and State law, the ex officio auditor of the Board; the recorder and the custodian of 
all County funds. Ms. Perikles stated that while Florida Statutes provided that local governments 
may not create or fund any office exercising powers allocated exclusively by the State 
constitution or general law to constitutional officers, the Clerk's authority to conduct audits was 
not exclusive. 



 
FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 

CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE  
SEPTEMBER 5, 2025  

 

September 5, 2025 Final Official Minutes Page 3 of 18  
 Charter Review Task Force  
 

Ms. Perikles explained that the Clerk's duties as controller and auditor were entirely statutory 
under Section 129.025 of Florida Statutes and noted the Clerk as auditor was responsible for 
ensuring that payments of County funds were authorized expenditures. She advised that the 
statutes prescribing the Clerk's responsibilities did not define the audit function and stated that 
Florida courts had interpreted that the authority allowed clerks to conduct pre and post audits of 
County expenditures to ensure County funds were spent in accordance with law. Ms. Perikles 
referenced an Attorney General opinion stating that unless specifically defined, audit was 
variously defined and could include mathematical examination of processes, investigations, 
weighing of evidence, and determining whether entries were correct. 

Ms. Perikles stated that Section 125.01 of Florida Statutes granted the County Commission 
power to investigate County affairs and inquire into accounts, revenues, and transactions of 
County departments, offices, and officers, which essentially empowered them to conduct audits. 
She further noted that Section 218.33 of Florida Statutes allowed local government entities to 
establish and maintain internal controls to prevent and detect fraud, waste, and abuse, promote 
compliance with laws and contracts, and support efficient operations. Ms. Perikles cited State v. 
Weeks, which held that the name given to a statutory officer was immaterial if the authority 
conferred did not conflict with constitutional authority. She argued that the statutory authority of 
counties to audit records and establish internal controls did not constitute exclusive authority 
delegated to the Clerk and that these county powers did not diminish or supplant the statutory 
duties of the Clerk. Ms. Perikles referenced an Attorney General opinion stating that the Clerk as 
ex officio auditor provided a check and balance system to ensure proper expenditure of public 
funds. 

Ms. Perikles stated that the statutes granting the Clerk audit authority and charter provisions 
granting the OIG audit authority should be read together to preserve the force of both. The OIG's 
audit function is supplementary and does not supplant the Clerk's functions. The OIG does not 
issue financial audits, does not audit county funds financially, and does not conduct pre and post 
audits of expenditures. The OIG's function is different. Their audits are almost always initiated 
through complaints, investigations, or oversight assignments where something needs 
examination from a different perspective. 

Chairman Kerbel stated that the CRTF's charge was to determine what to do with terms currently 
in the charter. He noted that the Inspector General provision specifically referenced audits, and 
the drafts proposed by constitutional officers would strike the word audit and include a provision 
stating that the COCC shall have exclusive authority to perform audits as set forth in State law. 
Chairman Kerbel asked what proposed changes to the language could be made to reflect that the 
OIG's function was supplemental. 

Ms. Perikles recommended that the word audit not be removed because the OIG conducted 
different types of audits than the Clerk. She stated that as a matter of public policy and common 
sense, the County commission and County must have ability to review internal processes in more 



 
FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 

CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE  
SEPTEMBER 5, 2025  

 

September 5, 2025 Final Official Minutes Page 4 of 18  
 Charter Review Task Force  
 

than one way and reiterated that the Clerk was charged with certain specific types of audits, 
including pre and post audits. Ms. Perikles noted that the OIG assessed performance, 
compliance, internal controls, and whether proposed legislation would be beneficial to the 
County and maintained that the language was encompassing and there was room for both offices 
to conduct audits. 

Mr. Eikenberg inquired about the purpose of the discussion given that the independent OIG 
office was established by charter amendment in 2020. 

Chairman Kerbel explained that the purpose was to determine the statutory exclusive authority of 
the Clerk and ensure that no other office was assigned authority that duplicated those exclusive 
duties. 

ACA Michael Valdes explained that the State legislature passed a statute indicating that if any 
duty or responsibility was assigned to a constitutional officer, the County could not fund an 
office that duplicated that duty or responsibility. He further advised that the COCC had requested 
that the charter implement language to ensure duties were not duplicated, and the discussion was 
intended to determine what position the respective entities had regarding this issue. 

Chairman Kerbel asked ACA Valdes for his opinion on whether the OIG was stepping into an 
exclusive duty of the Clerk. 

ACA Valdes stated that based on the broad definition of audit, it was difficult to determine 
conclusively. He referenced Alachua County v. Powers (1977), in which the Florida Supreme 
Court held that Alachua County could not create an independent county auditing department 
because the Clerk was designated as the county auditor. ACA Valdes opined that the Clerk was 
not the only entity allowed to conduct audits, though the 1977 case created ambiguity about 
whether an in-house County department could perform audit functions. 

Chairman Kerbel inquired whether it would be consistent with previous discussion to insert 
language stating "to the extent not inconsistent with general law" instead of striking the word 
audit. 

ACA Valdes confirmed this approach would address the statute concerning duplication of 
services by constitutional officers. 

Chairman Kerbel asked whether constitutional language or statute had prompted the charter 
discussion. 

ACA Valdes clarified that both constitutional and statutory elements were involved in the 
auditing issue. 

Ms. Perikles informed the CRTF that the Clerk entered into an interlocal agreement with Miami-
Dade County on January 7, 2025 and noted one section of the agreement stated that several other 
departments did not duplicate the Clerk's duties. She agreed with the proposed amendment to add 



 
FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 

CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE  
SEPTEMBER 5, 2025  

 

September 5, 2025 Final Official Minutes Page 5 of 18  
 Charter Review Task Force  
 

qualifying language rather than strike the word audit, stating it would allow for different types of 
audits and functions. Ms. Perikles provided examples of other Florida counties where both the 
OIG and Clerk performed different audit functions and emphasized that conducting audits was 
not an exclusive duty of the Clerk. 

Commissioner Moss inquired about the duration of the interlocal agreement. 

Ms. Perikles responded that the agreement was for three years. 

Commissioner Moss suggested that the charter could include language regarding the County's 
ability to enter into interlocal agreements. 

Chairman Kerbel asked whether the County could enter into an interlocal agreement with a 
constitutional office through the OIG. 

ACA Valdes stated that such an agreement would be permitted under the proposed language 
already adopted by the Board. 

Ms. Wakefield questioned how the charter could affect the scope of the OIG's duties. 

Ms. Perikles explained that the OIG would retain ability to conduct investigations, but 
eliminating the word audit would create issues in their oversight work. 

Ms. Escarra asked for clarification on the practical aspects of auditing regarding multiple 
requests from different departments. 

Ms. Perikles clarified that the OIG had not duplicated audits from other departments and had 
maintained open lines of communication with the Department of Audit and Management and the 
Commission Auditor to ensure services were not duplicated. She explained that the offices 
performed different functions and initiated audits from different sources. Ms. Perikles stated that 
if the commission requested work from the OIG, the office would contact colleagues to avoid 
duplication, as the OIG had a duty as an independent oversight agency not to perpetuate 
inefficiencies. 

Chairman Kerbel reiterated the OIG’s independent authority to conduct audits. 

Ms. Perikles confirmed that the OIG had independent authority and could self-initiate audits. She 
stated that the OIG was complaint-driven and received complaints from citizens, referrals from 
department directors, and requests from the commission and the mayor's office. 

Ms. Escarra questioned whether the same complaint-driven process applied to the Clerk's office. 

Ms. Perikles stated that she could not speak for the Clerk's office but confirmed that the OIG 
accepted information and complaints for reviews and investigations. She stated that she did not 
believe the Clerk had the same complaint-driven process and that the Clerk was bound by 
statutory duties to ensure that payments of County funds were made correctly. 



 
FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 

CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE  
SEPTEMBER 5, 2025  

 

September 5, 2025 Final Official Minutes Page 6 of 18  
 Charter Review Task Force  
 

Mr. Montaldo confirmed that the Clerk was allowed to receive constituent complaints. He 
explained that prior to Amendment 10, the Clerk had always been the auditor and audits were 
performed by deputy clerks, with the audit section under the finance director at that time. Mr. 
Montaldo provided an example of an audit of the self-insurance fund that was initiated by a 
constituent complaint to former Clerk Harvey Ruvin, who ordered an independent audit at the 
constituent's request.  

Chairman Kerbel asked whether the Clerk retained that authority, and Mr. Montaldo confirmed 
that the Clerk does retain that authority. 

Mr. Redondo asked whether adding language referencing general law for auditing would address 
Ms. Perikles's concerns regarding the OIG's auditing functions. 

Ms. Perikles confirmed that such language would address her concerns. 

 

B. Office of the Commission Auditor 

Chairman Kerbel asked the Commission Auditor whether he wished to add anything to the OIG's 
concerns. 

Mr. Yinka Majekodunmi stated that Ms. Perikles had expressed the concerns clearly. He 
provided an overview of the Office of the Commission Auditor (OCA), which was established in 
2002 by voters of Miami-Dade County after approval of a Home Rule Charter amendment. Mr. 
Majekodunmi stated the office was created to conduct financial and legislative research and 
analysis to assist the Board in their decision-making process by ensuring governmental 
accountability, transparency, and best use of public funds and noted that the Commission 
Auditor's duties included reporting to the Board on county departments and external agency 
operations to assess whether fiscal and legislative policy directives of the commission were 
being efficiently and effectively implemented. 

Mr. Majekodunmi clarified that the word "audit" as a verb was important to any oversight 
function and was not exclusive to any organization. He stated that striking the word "audit" 
would create challenges by becoming restrictive in areas where oversight work needed to operate 
throughout the County, not just in one office. He explained that the OCA did not duplicate 
services or operations and had a clear understanding of their work scope. Mr. Majekodunmi 
pointed out that the OCA differed from the OIG in how they received requests, as most of the 
OCA's requests came from the Board. Mr. Majekodunmi stated the office did not perform pre or 
post payment audits, but rather focused on core compliance and directives by the Board which 
may not be financial in nature. 



 
FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 

CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE  
SEPTEMBER 5, 2025  

 

September 5, 2025 Final Official Minutes Page 7 of 18  
 Charter Review Task Force  
 

Mr. Majekodunmi stated that the offices understood how to define the scope of audits and 
determine where their respective scopes began and ended. In cases where there could be 
overlapping responsibility, the offices coordinated to hand off engagements to the appropriate 
entity. He stated that the offices had coordinated effectively for several years by sharing 
information and working in their respective areas to avoid duplication. Mr. Majekodunmi noted 
that there were different types of audits, including financial audits, compliance audits, 
performance audits, and investigative audits. He stated that the word "audit" was properly placed 
in the OCA's charter section. 

Commissioner Moss asked what led the OIG and OCA to enter into the interlocal agreement 
with the Clerk's office. 

Mr. Majekodunmi stated that in the initial phase of discussions, the offices wanted to document 
their collaborative work and intent not to duplicate services, specifically to address confusion 
around the word "audit." He explained that the goal of the interlocal agreement was to ensure 
continued handoffs and information sharing when the scope fell outside their respective areas. 

Ms. Perikles clarified that the interlocal agreement was entered into between the County and the 
constitutional offices, not by individual offices, and that the agreement specifically named the 
OIG, the Commission Auditor, and other offices. 

Commissioner Moss asked what led the OIG to want to be part of the interlocal agreement. 

Ms. Perikles stated that as the County was preparing for the transition and preparing for an 
agreement with the Clerk, the OIG participated because the OIG had always maintained a good 
working relationship with the Clerk and wanted to continue that relationship. She explained that 
the offices had referred matters to each other and that it was part of what the OIG believed to be 
their duty to cooperate and ensure that services were not duplicated and that each office's 
functions were specifically delineated and defined. 

Ms. Wakefield asked whether the concern about the word "audit" was a legal issue or a 
functional issue. 

Mr. Majekodunmi explained that in this context, the word "audit" functioned as a verb rather 
than a type of engagement. He stated that different offices conducted various types of 
engagements, including audit engagements, review engagements, and compilation engagements. 
Mr. Majekodunmi distinguished between "audit" as a verb used broadly across organizations and 
"audit" as a designated role, noting that this distinction may have caused confusion. He provided 
an example that the County's annual independent audit must be conducted by an independent 
CPA firm and could be performed by the OCA, OIG, or Clerk. Mr. Majekodunmi stated that 



 
FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 

CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE  
SEPTEMBER 5, 2025  

 

September 5, 2025 Final Official Minutes Page 8 of 18  
 Charter Review Task Force  
 

while scope design and roles were important, "audit" as a verb had never been exclusive in the 
industry and was fundamental to oversight within any organization. 

Chairman Kerbel asked whether adding language stating "consistent with general law" would 
address the concerns. 

Mr. Majekodunmi confirmed that it would. 

 

C. Internal Compliance Department 

Chairman Kerbel asked whether the Internal Compliance Department (ICD) had anything to add 
to the discussion. 

Dr. Carladenise Edwards stated that she was in agreement with her colleagues and explained that 
the COCC provided fiduciary responsibility to ensure taxpayer funds were used as intended and 
that the COCC was responsible for ensuring the integrity of County expenses. She stated that, 
similar to corporations, there was a segregation of duties to ensure proper checks and balances. 
Dr. Edwards explained that when audits were conducted by the OIG, Commission Auditor, or 
COCC, the administration had a duty to address findings. She stated that the Mayor had charged 
the Internal Compliance Department (ICD) with preventing issues by testing and auditing 
preventive controls and ensuring that corrective actions from findings were implemented. Dr. 
Edwards stated that the word "audit" was a verb and would be difficult to strike from the charter 
because each office had a responsibility to audit, investigate, and review records, performance, 
and programs to ensure accountability to taxpayers. She asked Ms. Ofelia Tamayo, Director of 
the Internal Compliance Department, to provide an overview of the department's duties. 

Ms. Tamayo stated that she agreed with the OIG and Commission Auditor and had worked with 
the Clerk's office during the transition. She explained that the ICD had several divisions, 
including debt collection for the County, oversight of the County's Enterprise Resources 
Planning (ERP) system, purchasing card compliance, and a processing and transaction division 
that conducted reviews. Ms. Tamayo stated that the ICD anticipated risk, protected resources, 
proposed appropriate levels of internal controls, increased efficiency and effectiveness, and 
maximized resource use. She explained that the office was proactive, collaborative, and provided 
complementary oversight. Ms. Tamayo provided an example regarding overtime, explaining that 
while the COCC reviewed overtime payments to ensure compliance with policy, the ICD 
reviewed overtime policies to help management achieve goals and minimize overtime 
expenditures. She stated that the ICD focused on front-end internal controls to minimize risk, 
increase efficiency in processes, maximize revenues, and follow up on action items. Ms. Tamayo 
concluded that the ICD complemented the audit work performed by the Commission Auditor and 
the Office of Inspector General. 



 
FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 

CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE  
SEPTEMBER 5, 2025  

 

September 5, 2025 Final Official Minutes Page 9 of 18  
 Charter Review Task Force  
 

Chairman Kerbel asked ACA Valdes whether there was a definition in State law for the word 
"audit" that could guide what constituted an exclusive function. 

ACA Valdes stated that there was no comprehensive definition provided in Florida Statutes. He 
explained that there were numerous instances within Florida Statutes that defined different types 
of audits with specific definitions and noted that Florida Statutes differentiated between 
prepayment audits, which verified that there was a valid public purpose for expenses before 
payment was issued; and post-payment audits, which verified that payment was legal and was 
actually performed. He stated that there were also performance audits that evaluated 
performance. ACA Valdes stated that there were various ways in which the term "audit" was 
defined within Florida Statutes, but there was not one all-encompassing definition. 

Chairman Kerbel requested Mr. Montaldo input. 

Mr. Montaldo provided clarification on why the issue with the term "audit" in the Home Rule 
Charter had become significant. He explained that prior to the passage of Amendment 10, the 
term "audit" was defined in many instances because the audit functions were not exclusively in 
the Clerk's purview as they were after Amendment 10. 

Chairman Kerbel asked whether the Clerk had authority to perform all the different types of 
audits that ACA Valdes had described. 

Mr. Montaldo stated that performance audits, for example, were not within the Clerk's purview. 
He explained that performance audits did not focus on the financial aspects for which the Clerk 
was responsible but rather related to policy compliance. 

Chairman Kerbel noted that the word "audit" appeared to be a generic term that could cover 
different types of auditing. 

Mr. Montaldo stated that the term "audit" had legal significance. He explained that in any 
document that conferred legal rights, such as the constitution or the charter, terms would 
ultimately be defined either by the legislature through statute or by the courts through 
jurisprudence. Mr. Montaldo stated that the Clerk provided case law regarding the audit function 
and that case law was clear on the audit function. He explained that the Clerk brought the issue 
to the commission's attention because the charter was a document used by the public to 
understand how county government functioned, and terms should be clarified so that constituents 
could understand their rights. Mr. Montaldo stated that in reading the pre-Amendment 10 Home 
Rule Charter, there were areas where there was confusion, and those areas should be clarified. 

Mr. Montaldo recognized the collaborative working relationship with the OIG and Commission 
Auditor. He explained that investigations and audits were frequently intertwined, especially on 
criminal matters, and there were times when functions were different but closely connected. Mr. 
Montaldo stated that when the Clerk signed the interlocal agreement, the Clerk clarified that 
there was no intention to gain authority over areas where the OIG performed its work. He stated 



 
FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 

CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE  
SEPTEMBER 5, 2025  

 

September 5, 2025 Final Official Minutes Page 10 of 18  
 Charter Review Task Force  
 

that the issue was about clarifying the term "audit." Mr. Montaldo stated that the Clerk would not 
object to adding language referencing state law. He stated that the Clerk's office did not believe 
removing the word "audit" would cause confusion and that the Clerk's office was neutral on the 
issue as long as it did not interfere with the Clerk's constitutional and statutory duties. Mr. 
Montaldo explained that the legislative enactment regarding duplication of functions was passed 
to clarify that such duplication would be seen as a waste of taxpayer funds. 

Chairman Kerbel stated his view that the charter was not a source for the public to determine 
everything that was allowable or that defined all terms, but rather set parameters for what the 
County Commission could do through further action. He stated that the CRTF's charge was to 
determine how much to restrict in the charter regarding what the County Commission could 
decide later. Chairman Kerbel stated that eliminating the word "audit" was not necessary to avoid 
duplication and that adding qualifying language could address the issue, as matters could be 
resolved by the County Commission when they adopted ordinances or resolutions consistent with 
the charter and state law. 

Commissioner Moss asked whether there were potential conflicts that could create problems 
related to the language. 

Mr. Montaldo stated that government functions involved checks and balances that could lead to 
conflicts, which were sometimes resolved among government officials and sometimes in courts. 
He stated that he had been with the Clerk's office for 24 years and that each word in the charter 
was significant. He explained that when important issues arose, each term was examined closely. 
Mr. Montaldo stated that the Clerk's office sought to clarify terms for the public to the extent 
possible and that issues would ultimately be resolved through law or by the courts. 

Ms. Escarra stated that the discussion brought the CRTF back to Sections 9.10 and 9.11, which 
were not moved at the last meeting. She stated that the sections would address adding language 
regarding audits as permitted by law, applicable both to Section 9.10 where the word "audit" had 
been stricken and would be added back in with reference to general law, as well as Section 9.11. 

Chairman Kerbel stated that was his suggestion and questioned whether the line about the COCC 
having exclusive authority to perform audits was needed, as it sounded too restrictive. He noted 
that based on the presentations received, there were audit functions that the COCC did not 
perform. 

Vice Chair Redondo stated that to the extent the language could be added referencing 
consistency with State law, it would address the remaining sentence in Section 9.10. 

ACA Valdes proposed specific language for Section 9.11, suggesting the phrase "audits as 
permitted by law." He proposed that in Section 9.10, the word "audit" be deleted and the phrase 
"or permitted audits" be inserted after "fiscal analyses." ACA Valdes explained that this 



 
FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 

CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE  
SEPTEMBER 5, 2025  

 

September 5, 2025 Final Official Minutes Page 11 of 18  
 Charter Review Task Force  
 

language would treat audit as a noun when used with "permitted" as opposed to using audit as an 
adjective. 

Chairman Kerbel stated that the language "permitted audit" raised the question of what is 
actually permitted. He stated that the CRTF would need a final comprehensive review of all 
constitutional officer sections before voting on amendments. 

ACA Valdes confirmed that he had compiled everything approved at the previous meeting and 
would add what was discussed during the current meeting. 

Chairman Kerbel asked Ms. Escarra whether the proposed language was acceptable for her 
motion. 

Ms. Escarra agreed to the language discussed and added that the last sentence in Section 9.10 
should be removed. 

Ms. Escarra moved to amend Section 9.10 by retaining the word "audit" and adding the 
qualifying phrase "as applicable to general law," with the County Attorney determining the final 
specific terminology. Mayor Dieguez seconded the motion; and upon being put to a vote, passed 
10-0 (Senator Calatayud, Mr. Granado, Mr. Jimenez, and Mayor Pierre were absent). 

 

D. Office of Management and Budget 

Chairman Kerbel asked Dr. Edwards about her proposal regarding the Office of Management 
and Budget (OMB). 

Dr. Edwards clarified that the interlocal agreement was executed by the County in January 2025 
and expired on December 31, 2026. She stated that the CRTF's work was important because it 
would help provide clarity on the respective roles of each office when the interlocal agreement 
expired. 

Chairman Kerbel asked whether the previous motion provided that clarity. 

Dr. Edwards confirmed that the Task Force's action provided the necessary clarity. 

Chairman Kerbel raised the question of whether there should be an office or department of 
finance given the changes to the Clerk's role. 

Dr. Edwards stated that Section 5.03 of the charter was titled "Financial Administration," but the 
full text addressed management and budget. She proposed that Section 5.03 be retitled 
"Management and Budget" with the remainder remaining the same. She stated that subsection A 
would read: "The Mayor shall serve as the County Budget Officer and shall carry out such duties 



 
FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 

CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE  
SEPTEMBER 5, 2025  

 

September 5, 2025 Final Official Minutes Page 12 of 18  
 Charter Review Task Force  
 

in accordance with state law. The Mayor may delegate any budgetary responsibilities, powers, or 
duties to the Director of the Office of Management and Budget or such other designee as the 
Mayor deemed appropriate." Dr. Edwards stated this would eliminate reference to the finance 
director and replace it with reference to the Mayor and designee for management and budget. 
She noted that segregation of duties was normal practice in corporations and stated that 
subsequent sections B, C, and D through H, all referenced budget and that this was the clearest 
way to address the issue. 

Chairman Kerbel asked whether "County Budget Officer" was a term that existed in state law. 

ACA Valdes confirmed that the term existed in state law. 

Commissioner Moss inquired about the role of the Board as it related to the operation of this 
office. 

ACA Valdes stated that the role was currently performed by the Mayor. He explained that State 
law provided that it was a role designated by the County Commission or that could be designated 
by the County Commission. He stated that the charter already set forth those requirements, which 
were to prepare a budget and present it to the Board, and that Sections 5.03(B), (C), and (D) 
already addressed this. 

Commissioner Moss asked whether the commission could make changes through legislation. 

ACA Valdes stated that the Mayor proposed the budget that was presented to the Board and that 
ultimately the Board reviewed and approved/adopted the final budget. He clarified that the 
Mayor did not prepare a final budget or had budgetary authority. 

Commissioner Moss asked whether the commission could pass legislation directing the Mayor to 
perform other duties under this office. 

ACA Valdes stated that the Board could issue policy directives to the Mayor to include various 
items in proposed budgets going forward. 

Dr. Edwards addressed Section 5.01, which listed departments that should exist. The section 
stated "there shall be a department of finance," and she recommended it be amended to read 
"there shall be a department of budget, personnel, planning and law," replacing "finance" with 
"budget." 

Chairman Kerbel stated that since the provision concerned the Mayor's authority to create an 
office, he questioned whether the charter needed to specify the Director of the Office of 
Management and Budget. He suggested the language could simply state that the Mayor may 
delegate to a designee as the Mayor deems appropriate rather than naming a specific department. 



 
FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 

CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE  
SEPTEMBER 5, 2025  

 

September 5, 2025 Final Official Minutes Page 13 of 18  
 Charter Review Task Force  
 

Dr. Edwards responded that Section 5.01 identified which departments should exist, ensuring 
that a department accountable for budgeting would exist. She stated that Section 5.03 would 
indicate that the Mayor shall delegate the duties of that department. Dr. Edwards noted that a 
future mayor might want to use a different name for the office, but the duties would remain in 
the charter. 

Ms. Escarra questioned the change from "finance" to "budget" in Section 5.01 and asked why it 
was not changed to "management and budget." 

Dr. Edwards explained that different entities used different terms. She stated that in her 
professional experience, she had seen "management and budget" and "planning and analysis," 
and that different entities used different terms. She noted that at the state level and federal level, 
there were offices of management and budget, so it was a term familiar in government. Dr. 
Edwards stated that the term would resonate with the community and others because it was 
familiar in the government space. She stated that Section 5.01 could be changed from "finance" 
to "management and budget," and Section 5.03 could reference "management and budget," but 
noted the Chair's point that this might restrict future mayors who wanted to call it something 
else. 

Ms. Escarra questioned the change from "finance" to "budget" in Section 5.01 and asked why it 
was not "management and budget." 

Dr. Edwards explained that different entities use different terms. She initially opted to use the 
narrower term "budget," but the language could be changed to better align with state statutes. 

Ms. Escarra stated that the language should be more consistent with state statutes. 

Chairman Kerbel stated that Section 5.03 would reference "Budget." 

Ms. Escarra stated it should reference the "Budget Office." 

ACA Valdes noted that Section 5.03 contains provisions that do not relate exclusively to the 
budget process, such as subsection (D) which addresses competitive bidding requirements. 

Chairman Kerbel stated that "Management and Budget" made more sense for Section 5.03 given 
the broader scope. 

Ms. Escarra summarized the proposed changes: Section 5.01 would be amended to say "budget" 
instead of "finance" in the first sentence; Section 5.03 would have "Management and Budget" in 
the title; the first sentence would be crossed out; and the following language would be added: 
"The Mayor shall serve as the County Budget Officer and shall carry out such duties in 
accordance with state law. The Mayor may delegate any budgetary responsibilities, powers, or 



 
FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 

CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE  
SEPTEMBER 5, 2025  

 

September 5, 2025 Final Official Minutes Page 14 of 18  
 Charter Review Task Force  
 

duties to the Director of the Office of Management and Budget or such other designee as the 
Mayor deems appropriate." 

Chairman Kerbel proposed an amendment to strike the specific reference to the Office of 
Management and Budget and change the language in the last sentence of Section 5.03 to read: 
"The Mayor may delegate any budgetary responsibilities, powers, or duties to any such 
designee." 

Ms. Escarra accepted the amendment. 

Mayor Joshua Dieguez moved to approve the changes as amended by Chairman Kerbel. Ms. 
Escarra seconded the motion; and upon being put to a vote, passed 10-0 (Senator Calatayud, Mr. 
Granado, Mr. Jimenez, and Mayor Pierre were absent). 

Chairman Kerbel stated that there was an outstanding issue relating to the SOE. 

Mr. Rosenthal stated that the outstanding issue related to who qualified candidates for County 
Commission and Mayor. He explained that at the previous task force meeting, the CRTF had 
asked the County Attorney to research whether a particular office was legally required to serve 
as the qualifying officer. Mr. Rosenthal stated that although this responsibility was previously 
assigned in the charter to the Clerk, it was no longer appropriate under Amendment 10 changes. 
He stated that the Clerk had requested that the SOE perform this function, and that the SOE was 
the qualifying officer under State law. 

ACA Valdes stated that the question related to the interaction between State law, which provided 
qualifying requirements for county officials and county judges; and home rule powers that the 
County may have regarding the method of election of County commissioners. He stated that with 
the enactment of Amendment 10, arguments could be made on both sides. ACA Valdes stated 
that from a practical standpoint, it had always been the Supervisor of Elections office or elections 
department that conducted qualifications, either through delegation by the Clerk, deputization by 
the Clerk, or as the established method. He stated that from a practical standpoint and to avoid 
constitutional versus charter conflicts, it was simplest to memorialize what had always been done 
in practice, which was that the SOE served as the qualifying officer. 

Chairman Kerbel asked whether under State law it has always been the Supervisor of Elections 
that is the qualifying officer. 

ACA Valdes confirmed that in all other Florida counties, the SOE served as the qualifying 
officer pursuant to State law. 

Ms. Escarra asked whether the Supervisor of Elections performed this function for all 
municipalities within the county. 



 
FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 

CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE  
SEPTEMBER 5, 2025  

 

September 5, 2025 Final Official Minutes Page 15 of 18  
 Charter Review Task Force  
 

Mr. Rosenthal stated that municipalities had their own municipal clerks who served as qualifying 
officers. He noted that the municipal clerks reported qualified candidates to the SOE, but the task 
force was not addressing municipal charters. 

Mr. Rosenthal further explained that State law addressed qualifying officers and that county-
wide offices went to the SOE. 

ACA Valdes advised that the change would be made to Section 3.04(A) and explained that the 
part of the charter that currently read "All candidates for the office of Mayor or County 
Commissioner shall qualify with the Clerk of the Circuit Court" would be amended to delete 
"Clerk of the Circuit Court" and replaced with "Supervisor of Elections." 

Chairman Kerbel asked whether a similar change was needed regarding initiatives and referenda. 

Mr. Rosenthal stated that initiative and referendum processes were not governed by State law in 
the same manner. 

ACA Valdes stated in his review of the initiative and referendum provisions, language had been 
added relating to the timing of elections to address concerns previously raised by Commissioner 
Moss. He stated that the language would indicate that elections would be held at the earliest 
possible time at which the SOE confirmed availability to conduct such election. 

Chairman Kerbel stated that the only remaining question was who validated the petition for 
initiatives and referenda. 

Mr. Fernandez moved to approve the amendment to Section 3.04(A) to replace "Clerk of the 
Circuit Court" with "Supervisor of Elections." Vice Chair Redondo seconded the motion, and 
upon being put to a vote, passed 10-0 (Senator Calatayud, Mr. Granado, Mr. Jimenez, and Mayor 
Pierre were absent). 

 

V. Overview of Draft Amendments relating to Constitutional Officers  

Chairman Kerbel stated that in the next meeting, the CRTF would go over the amendments 
relating to the Constitutional Officers.  

Ms. Wakefield inquired about the degree of authority the Board would have over constitutional 
officers. 

ACA Valdes explained that the Florida Constitution provided that the duties and powers of 
constitutional officers were set forth in general law. He stated that general law provided 
independence for constitutional officers in areas related to procurement, personnel, and various 
other issues. ACA Valdes stated that there were certain instances in which the Board was 



 
FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 

CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE  
SEPTEMBER 5, 2025  

 

September 5, 2025 Final Official Minutes Page 16 of 18  
 Charter Review Task Force  
 

allowed to direct or have involvement with constitutional officers, but those were set forth in 
general law. He provided an example that the COCC served as the COB, and in that capacity, the 
Board was allowed to direct what the COB did, such as taking minutes of meetings, providing 
vote counts, and transmitting copies of resolutions. ACA Valdes stated that there were other 
instances in State law where the Board must approve certain contracts that constitutional officers 
entered into, while constitutional officers had complete authority to enter into other contracts on 
their own. He concluded that the matter while complicated was largely set forth in State law. 

 

VI. Proposed Technical Amendment Overview  

Chairman Kerbel asked whether the Trust members wanted to discuss the proposed 
technical amendments or wait until the next meeting. 

Mr. Eikenberg stated that the technical changes were self-explanatory and moved approval.  
Mayor Losner seconded the motion; and upon being put to a vote, passed 10-0 (Senator 
Calatayud, Mr. Granado, Mr. Jimenez, and Mayor Pierre were absent).  

Chairman Kerbel requested that staff prepare draft ballot language for the technical amendments 
to be reviewed at the next meeting. He stated this would help the CRTF understand the total 
number of ballot questions that would ultimately be presented to voters. 

ACA Valdes confirmed that a draft ballot question could be prepared and noted that amendments 
could be packaged together as the Task Force determined. 

Chairman Kerbel requested that staff also prepare draft ballot language for the constitutional 
officer amendments, since the complete slate of those amendments would be available for review 
at the next meeting. 

 

VII. Discussion on Amendments regarding the Structure of County Government  

Chairman Kerbel noted that given the length of today’s meeting and yesterday’s budget 
discussions, he proposed briefly introducing the topic of County structure and conducting a more 
thorough discussion at future meetings once outstanding business had been addressed. 

Chairman Kerbel outlined that the discussion would examine the relationship between the Mayor 
and the Board under the strong mayor system, the respective powers of each office, and the 
overall governmental structure. He encouraged Task Force members with specific proposals to 
submit language to staff for inclusion on future agendas. 

Chairman Kerbel expressed interest in exploring term limits and commissioner salaries, 
structured to avoid benefiting current office holders. He suggested this had been an obstacle in 



 
FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 

CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE  
SEPTEMBER 5, 2025  

 

September 5, 2025 Final Official Minutes Page 17 of 18  
 Charter Review Task Force  
 

previous attempts and outlined his preliminary view was 12-year term limits for commissioners 
and salaries set in accordance with State law. 

Mayor Losner referenced previous discussions regarding recall percentages and requested staff 
compile data for each district, including voter numbers, resident populations, and turnout 
percentages from the 2022 and 2024 elections.  

Mayor Losner moved to authorize staff to compile the requested information. Mayor Dieguez 
seconded the motion; and upon being put to a vote, passed 10-0 (Senator Calatayud, Mr. 
Granado, Mr. Jimenez, and Mayor Pierre were absent).  

Chairman Kerbel established that Task Force members could request information directly from 
staff, which would be distributed to all members for the next meeting. 

Mayor Losner outlined additional topics for future discussion, including requiring special 
elections for County Commission vacancies exceeding one year, extending district residency 
requirements from six months to one year with corresponding voter registration requirements, 
and exploring a structure where each voter would have two commissioners. He described a 
potential configuration of nine single-member districts with four overlapping districts to 
maintain 13 total commissioners. Mayor Losner noted that Live Local legislation was 
significantly impacting population distribution, particularly in the southern portion of the county. 

Chairman Kerbel sought clarification regarding whether this would alter the current 13 single-
member district structure. 

Mayor Losner clarified that the total number of commissioners would remain 13 but with a 
different configuration. 

Commissioner Moss expressed concern about devoting time to structural changes without 
evidence of significant dysfunction in the current Board operations. He stated he did not object to 
discussion but questioned the need for changes if the system was functioning adequately. 

Chairman Kerbel suggested requesting comparative data on term limits and commissioner 
salaries from other large counties, similar to the constitutional officer research previously 
provided. 

Ms. Escarra requested previous ballot language regarding term limits and salaries presented to 
Miami-Dade voters. 

Mr. Eikenberg moved that staff gather information on previous ballot language addressing term 
limits and salaries, plus comparative data from other counties. 

Chairman Kerbel proposed a friendly amendment to include information about governmental 
structures in other major counties regarding single-member districts versus at-large 
representation. 





BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
Charter Review Task Force 

September 5th, 2025 
 

Prepared by: Chester Rodriguez 
 

EXHIBITS LIST 

2024 V1 
 

 
AGENDA 
ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION 

- Copy of Miami Dade County Charter Review Task Force Agenda  
- Copy of Exhibit A  
- Copy of Exhibit B  
- Copy of Revised Exhibit B  
- Copy of Response to Charter Review Member Questions Regarding Definition of Audit  

 





















Revised-Exhibit B I 
EXHIBIT 

SECTION 5.01. DEPARTMENTS. 

There shall be departments of finance »hu.d.gfil«, personnel, planning, law, and such other 
departments as may be established by administrative order of the Mayor. All administrative functions 
not otherwise specifically assigned to others by this Charter shall be performed under the 
supervision of the Mayor. 

SECTION 5.02. ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE. 

The Mayor shall have the power to issue and place into effect administrative orders, rules, and 
regulations. The organization and operating procedure of administrative departments shall be set 
forth in regulations, which the Mayor shall develop, place into effect by administrative orders, and 
submit to the Board. 

SECTION 5.03. FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION »MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET« 

A. The department of finance shall be headed by a finance director appointed by the ~1ayor and the 
Clerk of the Circuit and County Courts. The finance director shall have charge of the financial affairs 
of the county »The Mayor shall serve as the County Budget Officer and shall carry out such duties 
in accordance with state law. The Mayor may delegate any budgetary responsibilities, powers, or 
duties to the Director of the Office of Management and Budget or such other designee as the Mayor 
deems appropriate.« 

B. Between June 1 and July 15, the County Mayor should prepare a proposed budget containing a 
complete financial plan, including capital and operating budgets, for the ensuing fiscal year. The 
budget prepared and recommended by the Mayor, shall be presented by the Mayor or his or her 
designee to the Commission on or before the Board adopts tentative millage rates for the ensuing 
fiscal year. A summary of the budget shall be published and the Board shall hold hearings on and 
adopt a budget on or before the dates required by law. 

C. No money shall be drawn from the county treasury nor shall any obligation for the expenditure of 
money be incurred except pursuant to appropriation and except that the Board may establish 
working capital, revolving, pension, or trust funds and may provide that expenditures from such 
funds can be made without specific appropriation. The Board, by ordinance, may transfer any 
unencumbered appropriation balance, or any portion thereof, from one department, fund, or agency 
to another, subject to the provisions of ordinance. Any portion of the earnings or balance of the 
several funds, other than sinking funds for obligations not yet retired, may be transferred to the 
general funds of the county by the Board. 

D. Contracts for public improvements and purchases of supplies, materials, and services other than 
professional shall be made whenever practicable on the basis of specifications and competitive 
bids. Formal sealed bids shall be secured for all such contracts and purchases when the transaction 
involves more than the minimum amount established by the Board of County Commissioners by 
ordinance. The transaction shall be evidenced by written contract submitted and approved by the 
Board. The Board, upon written recommendation of the Mayor, may by resolution adopted by two­
thirds vote of the members present waive competitive bidding when it finds this to be in the best 
interest of the county. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Charter to the contrary, in 
circumstances where the Mayor informs the Chairperson of the Board of County Commissioners in 






	Final Official Minutes
	Exhibit List
	Copy of Miami Dade County Charter Review Task Force Agenda
	Copy of Exhibit A
	Copy of Exhibit B
	Copy of Revised Exhibit B
	Copy of Response to Charter Review Member Questions Regarding Definition of Audit



